FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/6/2020 4:53 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/10/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

98867-6 NO. 79321-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK A. FRISBY,

Appellant-Cross Respondent,

 \mathbf{V}_{\star}

SEATTLE UNIVERSITY, a Washington non-profit Corporation, and J.J., a single individual,

Respondents-Cross Appellant

Unpublished Opinion Filed June 1, 2020

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEANE LAW OFFICES
T. Jeffrey Keane, WSBA 8465
100 NE Northlake Way, Suite 200
Seattle, WA 98105
206/438-3737 / fax 206/632-2540
Email: tjk@tjkeanelaw.com
Attorneys for Appellant-Cross
Respondent

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Mr. Frisby is a lifetime Seattle resident, highly regarded tennis professional in the Pacific Northwest, and at the time of the action giving rise to his case was employed by Seattle University as its Head Men's and Women's Tennis Coach when he was fired by the University.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of a decision by Division I of the Court of Appeals: *Frisby v. Seattle University*, No. 79321-7-I; unpublished decision filed June 1, 2020, motion to publish denied on July 7, 2020. A copy of the decision is attached.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether failure to participate in mediation prior to an assigned King County Superior Court trial date should result in dismissal of plaintiff's case?
- 2. Is balancing the seriousness of a violation of a case schedule obligation to attend mediation required before the trial court is free to dismiss plaintiff's case?
- 3. Is an employer's promise that an employment discharge process will allow the employee a 'full opportunity' to contest his discharge satisfied no matter what the substance of the 'process' utilized?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Background

Mark Frisby is a long time Pacific Northwest tennis professional and coach. At the time of the events giving rise to his case he was the head coach of the men's and women's Seattle University tennis teams. Mr. Frisby also operated summer tennis camps in Seattle and Sun Valley, ID, and sometimes employed varsity players as camp coaches. CP 269-273.

One such player, JJ, was invited to coach children's tennis camp in Sun Valley in the summer of 2014. She was about to enter her sophomore year at SU. Though a team member, due to injury she had not played competitively as a freshman. She had a partial scholarship associated with being on the tennis team. CP 274-275.

In Fall, 2014, JJ faltered badly during challenge matches. Her ranking was last, or next to last, on the women's team after competitive 'ladder' matches were conducted in Fall. By Christmas, 2014, Coach Frisby cautioned JJ that she was likely to lose her position on the team due to her poor performance. This would result in loss of scholarship, as well. CP 276-278.

In January, 2015, Coach Frisby confirmed JJ would be removed from the team. CP 278. Within a few days of learning this, JJ gave SU

administrators a 7 page letter in which she for the first time alleged—in the last few paragraphs—that Coach Frisby had touched her inappropriately in Sun Valley in summer the prior year.

Mr. Frisby worked under a written contract which could only be terminated without pay 'for cause.' An SU Employee handbook promised him a 'full opportunity' to contest any potential 'for cause' discharge decision. CP 1105. After the complaint from JJ, Seattle University assigned an investigator. The investigator had worked in other similar jobs. But her prior work (and her work at SU) had never included having her investigation 'findings' sustained after a fact-finding hearing presided over by someone besides herself. Her prior experience had never included her conducting or participating in any form of hearings at all. CP 151, 156-160.

After he was terminated--following a process the fairness of which he challenged--Mr. Frisby questioned the investigation, as well as the skill and experience of the investigator, and argued that he never received the 'full opportunity' process promised him. Part of his complaint was that he never received any form of notice or discovery materials. CP 601, 609, 610. Even the letter prepared by JJ and given to SU was withheld from him. CP 601, 609. The investigator withheld it after 'asking around the

office' whether she should give it to Mr. Frisby. The 'office' decided no. CP 641-642.

The investigator was also prosecutor and judge. CP 601, 611, 612. No hearing was conducted. No witnesses were called. Mr. Frisby was prohibited from having any contact with any team members, and any witnesses. CP 151, 164. The investigator concluded the alleged violation occurred and also concluded that Mr. Frisby had not 'retaliated' against JJ. CP 227. Mr. Frisby was fired.

Plaintiff sued SU, alleging that SU failed to provide the promised 'full opportunity,' and that the decision he had acted improperly was not supported by the facts. CP 1-8.

At a summary judgment hearing conducted shortly before trial, the trial court first orally indicated it would not grant summary judgment. A day later, it partially granted summary judgment. CP 748-750. It denied summary judgment on Frisby's 'full opportunity' claim---finding that questions of fact existed whether Frisby had received the opportunity promised. Notwithstanding that decision, the court also ruled that Frisby was foreclosed from contesting his termination---the result which had flowed from the process the trial court found flawed. CP 748-750.

Thus, the trial court concluded that Mr. Frisby did raise questions of fact regarding SU's denial of its promise to him. But after assailing the

process, the trial court blessed the result, and concluded Mr. Frisby could not contest it. This decision was reached just prior to trial. Problematic from plaintiff's perspective was that the form of split decision made by the court left uncertainty about what a 'trial' would be about: the text of the order prohibited plaintiff from bringing up at trial any of the complaining witness's history or conduct, or any of the substance of Frisby's rebuttal of the claims against him:

3. The Court finding in favor of Defendant Seattle University on the elements of 1) arbitrary and capricious, 2) adequate investigation, 3) substantial evidence, and 4) reasonably believed to be true as pertains to the sexual harassment and misconduct claim, the issues of character, credibility, credentials, motive, as well as the underlying allegations themselves may not be raised at trial as to the sexual harassment and misconduct claim.

CP 748-750. This order meant that while plaintiff could complain that the process used was not the one promised him, the jury would hear nothing about the events, the investigation, what plaintiff claimed was flawed about the investigation, Mr. Frisby's denials that any misconduct occurred, glowing character evidence about Mr. Frisby, nor any evidence of Mr. Frisby's experience during the process. The order was entered on October 24, 2018.

On November 1, 2018, plaintiff moved that the trial court either certify this unusual decision under CR 54(b), or grant reconsideration and

find that an unfair process cannot produce an incontestable result. CP 874-884.

Earlier--the day before the summary judgment hearing--the parties reported to the court that no mediation had occurred, though one was required under the case scheduling order. CP 975. The court reminded the parties of the obligation to participate in mediation on October 29, 2018. CP 969. Plaintiff's explanatory email to the court regarding why mediation had not occurred was intentionally excluded from the court record by the court. CP 978. Later plaintiff submitted the email with a declaration concerning its content. CP 960-978.

2. <u>Dismissal of Plaintiff's Case for Failure to Attend Mediation</u>

On November 9, 2018, the court denied plaintiff's CR 54(b) certification motion and plaintiff's motion for reconsideration. CP 942-943. Without a hearing, briefing, or any formality, and without making any findings regarding willfulness, prejudice, or consideration of lesser sanctions, because no mediation had occurred as required under the court's scheduling order, the court dismissed plaintiff's remaining claim on November 13, 2018. CP 944. The dismissal was without prejudice. However, the statute of limitations on the 'fair conduct' claim had expired so the dismissal terminated plaintiff's case. Appendix A.

3. <u>Court of Appeals Sustains Dismissal Based on Warning from Court</u>

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court. It held that Frisby's complaints about the full opportunity promise were unavailing, and that SU's process outcome could not be impeached in any way by plaintiff.

Regarding dismissal for failure to attend mediation, it held that since the court had reminded the parties of the obligation to participate in mediation dismissal should be affirmed without substantive discussion. The court of appeals focused on the trial court's 'warning' that mediation had to occur before trial. It thus found, without factual findings from the trial court, that plaintiff's failure was willful. It did not discuss whether defendant had been prejudiced by the lack of a mediation, nor did it discuss whether the trial court should have considered a lesser sanction.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals Decision is in conflict with multiple decisions of the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1)

This Court has never explicitly addressed whether a failure to attend mediation can support dismissing plaintiff's case. But it has multiple times addressed the requirements imposed on a trial court regarding discovery-based violations of a case scheduling order before it may use its ultimate power of sanction: termination of a party's case.

This Court has also amply addressed how a trial court is to analyze a party's failure to abide by a court scheduling order. It explicitly addressed a party's non-compliance with a King County Superior Court scheduling order in *Rivers v. Washington State Conference of Mason Contractors*, 145 Wash.2d 674, 41 P.3d 1175 (2002).

Rivers requires a three part analysis by the trial court before exercising its discretion to dismiss a case: 1) was the violation willful? 2) did the opposing party suffer any prejudice? 3) was consideration given to lesser sanctions before the harshest sanction was imposed? Not clear from Rivers is whether the party sanctioned is to be given due process notice before the sanction is imposed, though in Rivers the trial court gave plaintiff an opportunity to oppose dismissal before dismissing. Here, the court summarily dismissed plaintiff's case without hearing, briefing, or the required three part analysis. It made no findings.

Most of the pertinent cases decided by this court concern discovery violations, failures to provide discovery, failures to disclose witnesses, or frank withholding of discovery. Underlying the discussion in many is the cold truth that such misconduct thwarts the purpose of the discovery process itself.

No such effect was present here. Plaintiff did nothing which prejudiced the ability of SU to discover and defend. SU never claimed or

proved any prejudice. The trial court simply dismissed the plaintiff's remaining claim due to the lack of mediation before trial. The trial court never considered any other sanction, or at least never stated that it did. Plaintiff explained to the trial court why the failure to attend mediation occurred. The only response of the trial court was to refuse to place that explanation in the record.¹

The Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal holding that 'warning' the parties about the lack of a conducted mediation was the trial court's only obligation. But that decision directly ignores this Court's ruling in *Rivers*:

The law is well settled in this state concerning dismissal of a complaint as a sanction for discovery abuse. "Under CR 41(b), the trial court has the authority to dismiss an action for noncompliance with a court order or court rules (citations omitted)." "[I]t is the general policy of Washington courts not to resort to dismissal lightly (citations omitted)." When a trial court imposes dismissal or default in a proceeding as a sanction for violation of a discovery order, it must be apparent from the record that)1 the party's refusal to obey the discovery order was willful or deliberate, 2) the party's actions substantially prejudiced the opponent's ability to prepare for trial, and 3) the trial court explicitly considered whether a lesser sanction would probably have sufficed (citations omitted). A party's disregard of a court order without reasonable excuse or justification is deemed willful. (citations omitted).

Rivers, at 686-687.

¹ The email explaining what plaintiff was doing, and why, regarding mediation is the email court staff stated would not be placed in the court file. CP 978. Plaintiff submitted it in a later declaration. CP 960-978.

When deciding *Rivers*, this Court cited to *Burnet v. Spokane*Ambulance, 131 Wash.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997), and traced the holding in *Burnet* to the seminal decision in *Physicians Ins. Exch. & Association v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wash.2d 299, 858 P.2 1054 (1993). It noted: "Some of those guiding principles (from *Fisons*) are as follows: the court should impose the least severe sanction that will be adequate to serve the purpose of the particular sanction, but not be so minimal that it undermines the purpose of discovery; the purpose of sanctions generally are to deter, to punish, to compensate, to educate, and to ensure that the wrongdoer does not profit from the wrong. *Fisons*, 122 Wash.2d at 355-56, *Burnet*, 131 Wash.2d at 495-96.

A great concern is policing misconduct intended to obtain strategic advantage, with resulting prejudice to the opposing party. Nothing of the kind happened here. SU suffered no prejudice. Plaintiff obtained no 'discovery advantage' of any kind. And certainly plaintiff did not 'profit from' the lack of a mediation. Then, since, and now, this Court has reminded that "("[T]he law favors resolution of cases on their merits."), Lane v. Brown & Haley, 81 Wash.App. 102, 106, 912 P.2d 1040, review denied 129 Wash.2d 1028, 922 P.2d 98 (1996). Burnet, at 498.

This Court's continuation of the line of cases *Fisons* helped spawn informed the discussion of discovery abuse, intentional and deliberate

failures to produce discovery, and the appropriateness of defaulting a recalcitrant defendant in *Magana v. Hyundai American Motors*, 167 Wash.2d 570, 220 P.3d 191 (2009). There defendant Hyundai engaged in discovery misconduct of the highest order by providing limited and misleading information, while intentionally withholding obviously relevant discovery.

Magana applied the three part test for application of 'most extreme' sanctions (just as 'most extreme' for the plaintiff is dismissal, for a defendant entry of a default judgment is 'most extreme'), finding that willfulness was established and prejudice was as well since by the time Hyundai actually produced long withheld discovery its utility had been lost—other tardily identified claimants could not be found, did not respond, or the like: "Hyundai knew about these claims but willfully failed to disclose them thereby prejudicing Magana's ability to prepare for trial." Magana, at 589. Even then, the balancing test---that no other sanction short of judgment against Hyundai could cure the harm Hyundai's conduct created—had to be satisfied: "Before resorting to the sanction of dismissal, the trial court must clearly indicate on the record that it has considered less harsh sanctions under CR 37. Its failure to do so constitutes an abuse of discretion." Rivers, 145 Wash.2d at 696, 41 P.3d 1175. Magana at 590.

The decision also made the test for evaluating trial court action explicit:

"A discretionary decision rests on 'untenable grounds' or is based on 'untenable reasons' if the trial court relies on unsupported facts or applies the wrong legal standard; the court's decision is 'manifestly unreasonable' if 'the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts, adopts a view 'that no reasonable person would take.'" *Mayer*, 156 Wash.2d at 684, 132 P.3d 115 (internal quotation marks omitted)(quoting State v. Rohrich, 149 Wash.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2002)).

Magana at 583.

As many times as this Court has addressed the various decisions of trial courts and courts of appeal regarding the need for the three part analysis before imposing draconian sanctions, in various iterations the resistance to understanding continued after *Magana*. In *Blair v. Ta-Seattle East No. 176*, 171 Wash.2d 342, 254 P.3d 797 (2011), after witnessing flawed witness disclosure the trial court struck a key plaintiff's witness and plaintiff, lacking that witness, then suffered dismissal on summary judgment: "[A]lthough a trial court generally has broad discretion to fashion remedies for discovery violations, when imposing a severe sanction such as witness exclusion, the record must show three things—the trial court's consideration of a lesser sanction, the willfulness of the violation, and substantial prejudice arising from it." (citations omitted). *Blair* at 348.

"We have quite clearly held that explicit findings regarding the *Burnet* factors must be made on the record when a court imposes the most severe discovery sanctions, like excluding a witness."

Teter v. Deck, 174 Wash.2d 207, 274 P.3d 336, 345-46 (2012). Accord, Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 Wash.2d 322, 340, 314 P.3d 380 (2013): "As this court noted in Blair, it has been clear since at least 2006 that trial courts must consider the Burnet factors before excluding witnesses. Blair, 171 Wash.2d at 349, 254 P.3d 797 (citing Mayer, 156 Wash.2d at 688, 132 P.3d 115). When Division One held otherwise, it misread Mayer." Of course Mayer held that the Burnet analysis need not be conducted when monetary sanctions, and not sanctions which impact a party's ability to present its case, are imposed.

When this Court discusses the need for *Burnet* analysis regarding witness exclusion at trial, witness exclusion at summary judgment, failure to abide local rule discovery rules, and even new witness disclosure during trial, a steady focus on adjudication on the merits persists. Here a plaintiff's claim survived summary judgment, only to suffer dismissal due to the lack of mediation. Even the absence of mediation was explained to the trial court which provided no hearing, engaged in no colloquy, and invited no briefing before imposing the harshest sanction a plaintiff could suffer.

None of this court's cases arose in the setting where a mediation required under local rule did not occur prior to the time trial was to begin. In the absence of an explicit ruling from this Court, neither the trial court nor the appellate court considered dismissal too harsh a remedy for the simple failure to mediate. It was not defiance which caused the absence of mediation, but only the futility of conducting a mediation when a case late in its development was ricocheting between dismissal and not, and further review or not.

The trial court's use of its power is startling when it is applied to a minor procedural default--which prejudiced no one---and produced defeat for plaintiff without a test of the merits of plaintiff's case. In another setting, but in language apropos here, this Court hewed back to the larger mission of the courts:

[B]ut "our overriding responsibility is to interpret the rules in a way that advances the underlying purpose of the rules, which is to reach a just determination in every action." *Burnet*, 131 Wash.2d at 498 (citing CR1). Keck v. Collins, 184 Wash.2d 358, 369, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).

In sum, the trial court's use of its powers under the case scheduling order cannot be reconciled with this court's past discussion of the application of its rules. *Harbor Enterprises, Inc., v. Gunnar Gudjonsson,* 116 Wash.2d 283, 293, 803 P.2d 798 (1991).

2. The absence of any law in Washington regarding the scope of a promise of a 'full opportunity to respond' to a disciplinary claim, and the court's holding that plaintiff may make no contest concerning the process, is an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Mr. Frisby was promised a 'full opportunity to respond' in the SU Handbook. As described below, what he received was well less than that:

Typical Requirements of a Due Process Proceeding	SU Process
Written notice of claims or charges	Nothing
Specification of date, time and place of events	Nothing
Procedure for investigative process	Non-existent
Written discovery	Nothing
Employee access to letter by complainant to NCAA	Concealed from employee
Witness statements	Nothing
Full disclosure of scope of investigation	Intentional concealment by school investigator of 'insubordination' investigation questioning and content
Access to witnesses	Prohibited
Attorney access to witnesses	Prohibited
Attorney access to investigator	Prohibited
Separation of investigator from adjudicator	Non-existent
Contested hearing with cross- examination	Non-existent

Frisby raised many concerns about what that process lacked. In the private employment setting there is no law concerning what such a 'full opportunity' entails. In the public employment setting, however, this court has addressed the 'just cause' process and described elements of same which bear no resemblance to what SU supplied: "Whether there is just cause for discipline entails much more than a valid reason; it involves such elements as procedural fairness, the presence of mitigating circumstances, and the appropriateness of the penalty." *Civil Service Comm'n of Kelso v. City of Kelso*, 137 Wash.2d 166, 173, 969 P.2d 474 (1999).

What SU provided, and the trial and appeals court blessed, was a secretive process which frustrated Mr. Frisby's efforts to obtain a 'full opportunity' to respond. Perhaps the best example of his experience was SU's intentional withholding of a detailed letter prepared by the claimant and given to SU and, apparently, the NCAA. Preparation of the letter preceded the complainant coming forward but, still, SU kept it secret.

There is a robust body of procedural due process law in the public employment setting, where the ability to retain employment is recognized as a property right. The cases discuss pre and post termination procedures. Before a public employee's employment is terminated he is entitled to "oral or written notice of the charges against him, an explanation of the

employer's evidence, and an opportunity to present his side of the story." Cleveland Board of Education v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 546 (1985). But even there the Supreme Court recognized that Ohio State law also provided the employee with a full evidentiary post-termination review. *Id.* at 548.

When there is minimal or no post termination process (as here), courts have held that the pre-termination review must be even more robust: "the general rule is that the less the pre-deprivation process, the greater must be the post-deprivation process." Cassim v. Bowen, 824 F.2d 791, 798 (9th Cir. 1987); see also Carter v. Western Reserve Psychiatric Habilitation Center, 767 F.2d 270, 273 (6th Cir. 1985)("[T]he required extent of post-termination procedures is inextricably intertwined with the scope of pre-termination procedures."). Even when pre-termination proceedings are provided, a court "must also independently assess the adequacy of the post-termination proceedings." Clements v. Airport Authority of Washaoe Cnty, 69 F.3d 321, 332 (9th Cir. 1995); see also Taylor v. City of Cheney, 11-CV-0170-TOR, 2012 WL 5361424 (E.D. Wash. October 31, 2012). ("[U]nder Ninth Circuit case law the Court must independently evaluate the post-termination process for due process violations.")(unpublished opinion)(Appendix C).

The assessment of the balance between pre-and post-termination hearings in other circuits is instructive. For instance, the Sixth Circuit held that, if only an abbreviated pre-termination hearing is provided, "due process requires that a discharged employee's post-termination hearing be substantially more "meaningful." Mitchell v. Fankhauser, 375 F.3d 477, 480-81 (6th Cir. 2004). At a minimum, this "requires that the discharged employee be permitted to attend the hearing, to have the assistance of counsel, to call witnesses and produce evidence on his own behalf, and to know and have an opportunity to challenge the evidence against him." *Id.*, quoting Carter, 767 F.2d at 273. Similarly, the Seventh Circuit held that a pre-termination hearing "must fully satisfy the due process requirements of confrontation and cross-examination in addition to the minimal Loudermill requirements of notice and an opportunity to be heard: if a public employee does not receive a post-termination hearing. Baird v. Bd. Of Educ. For Warren Cmty. Unit. Sch. Dist. No. 205, 389 F.3d 685, 692 (7th Cir. 2004).

Pre-termination Mr. Frisby received nothing resembling the rights accorded those discussed in the cases above. He had no rights at all post termination. To promise a 'full opportunity' to respond, while constricting and controlling the process in such a fashion as to morph 'full' into 'no' opportunity was the practical and legal effect of the process SU used here.

That the court of appeals described the process in lofty terms does not change the heart of the matter: nothing resembling a due process proceeding ever occurred. Perhaps most to the point, even after the trial court found questions of fact regarding the process accorded Mr. Frisby, the appeals court found that Mr. Frisby's termination was incontestable.

Though Frisby's outcome was insulated from attack, whether the law of this State should produce that result presents an issue of high importance.

F. CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing, petitioner respectfully requests that this court grant his petition for review.

Submitted this 6th day of August, 2020.

KEANE LAW OFFICES

T. Jeffrey Keane, WSBA #8465

Attorney for Appellant-Cross

Respondent