FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/3/2020 12:37 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 79321-7-I

No. 98867-6

THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

MARK A. FRISBY, a married individual,

Appellant-Cross Respondent,

v.

SEATTLE UNIVERSITY, a Washington non-profit,

Respondent-Cross Appellant.

SEATTLE UNIVERSITY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael Porter, WSBA No. 37339 Katie Loberstein, WSBA No. 51091 MILLER NASH GRAHAM & DUNN LLP 3400 U.S. Bancorp Tower 111 S.W. Fifth Avenue Portland, Oregon 97204 Telephone: (503) 224-5858

> Attorneys for Respondent-Cross Appellant Seattle University

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

This Court accepts discretionary review in only limited circumstances. RAP 13.4(b). Here, Frisby asserts that review is

⁵ Although the trial court had found a genuine issue of material fact with regard to insubordination, an appellate court may affirm on any ground supported in the record. *Otis Housing Ass'n, Inc. v. Ha*, 165 Wn.2d 582, 594, 201 P.3d 309 (2009).

appropriate for two reasons: (1) the Orders conflict with this Court's precedent; and (2) this case presents an issue of substantial public importance. *Id.* at (b)(1), (4). Neither of these bases warrant review.

B. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Does Not Conflict With Any Decision of This Court.

Frisby concedes that "[t]his Court has never explicitly addressed whether a failure to attend mediation can support dismissing plaintiff's case," but inconsistently asserts that Division I "directly ignore[d]" this Court's prior rulings by affirming the trial court's dismissal without prejudice. Petition at 7, 9. Frisby mischaracterizes this Court's prior rulings, which involved discovery violations and more severe sanctions such as dismissals with prejudice, not failures to engage in ADR and administrative dismissals without prejudice.

Frisby's argument relies predominantly on this Court's decision in *Rivers v. Washington State Conference of Mason Contractors*, 145 Wn.2d 674, 41 P.3d 1175 (2002), which analyzed whether dismissal with prejudice was an appropriate sanction for a party's discovery violations. There, the petitioner did not timely disclose possible witnesses or provide complete responses to respondent's discovery requests. *Id.* at 682. The

respondent moved to dismiss the case with prejudice. *Id.* at 683. The trial court granted the motion, which was later reversed by this Court. *Id.*

On review, the Court articulated the following rule:

When a trial court imposes dismissal or default in proceeding as a sanction for violation of a discovery order, it must be apparent from the record that (1) the party's refusal to obey the discovery order was willful or deliberate, (2) the party's actions substantially prejudiced the opponent's ability to prepare for trial, and (3) the trial court explicitly considered whether a less severe sanction would probably have sufficed.

Id. at 697-98.

In *Rivers* and the other cases Frisby cites, a court imposed a severe sanction in response to a discovery violation. *See*, *e.g.*, *id.* (dismissal with prejudice in response to discovery violations); *Magana v. Hyundai Motor America*, 167 Wn.2d 570, 220 P.3d 191 (2009) (default judgment in response to a discovery violation; explaining that "[a] court should issue sanctions appropriate to advancing the purposes of discovery"); *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997) (excluding witness testimony in response to a discovery violation); *Blair v. Ta-Seattle East No. 176*, 171 Wn.2d 342, 254 P.3d 797 (2011) (excluding witness testimony—ultimately resulting in a dismissal with prejudice—in response

to a discovery violation). Frisby makes no effort to explain why those decisions apply or should apply to this case, which (1) did not involve a discovery violation, and (2) resulted in a lesser sanction—an administrative dismissal *without* prejudice. The *Rivers* test does not apply, either in precedent or in policy, to Frisby's willful failure to engage in court-ordered ADR prior to trial or the administrative dismissal without prejudice that followed.

The Order Setting Case Schedule required Frisby to submit a written settlement demand 45 days before the trial date as a prerequisite to engaging in the required ADR process. CP 0996. "Frisby does not dispute that he failed to provide SU with the written settlement demand required by the order and needed for mediation. He [also] does not dispute the court warned the parties it might dismiss the case because they had not complied with the scheduling order." Opinion at 17. On three separate occasions, the trial court contacted the parties to warn them that the case was not in compliance and would be subject to dismissal on the trial date:

• October 17, 2018: "Absent the parties' timely filing of the Joint Confirmation of Trial Readiness [acknowledging parties' compliance with the ADR requirement], the Court cannot prepare the case for trial assignment, and may enter

an administrative order of dismissal on the date of trial." CP 760.

- October 24, 2018: "Absent either the parties' compliance with the ADR requirement or a waiver from that requirement from this court, this case is out of compliance with the case scheduling order and our trial assignments staff will not accept it for assignment to a trial court." CP 759.
- October 29, 2018: "This email is the Court's final reminder that this case is noncompliant with the Court's case scheduling order, is not being prepared for trial, and is at risk of dismissal in two weeks . . ." CP 758.

On October 29, 2018, SU's counsel wrote a letter to the court (and included Frisby's counsel) explaining that it had not received a settlement demand from Frisby but that SU "strongly supports ADR" and "wants to resolve this case." CP 755. Frisby continued to ignore the ADR requirement for another two weeks. Finally, the trial court appropriately dismissed the case in accordance with the express language of the local rule, which provides: "Failure to comply with the Case Schedule may be grounds for imposition of sanctions, *including dismissal*, or terms." KCLCR 4(g)(1) (emphasis added); CP 944.

In short, there is no conflict with this Court's prior rulings, which do not address sanctions related to a party's willful refusal to engage in ADR prior to trial. Accordingly, RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not a basis to accept

review. The trial court appropriately exercised its discretion by dismissing the case without prejudice, and the unanimous appellate court appropriately ruled that that the decision was not an abuse of discretion.

C. There Are No Issues of Substantial Public Importance.

Even if this Court were to grant review and later reverse the trial court's dismissal without prejudice with regard to the breach of specific promise claim, Frisby has already conceded that such reversal would be futile given the trial and appellate courts' rulings on the substantive termination. See Petition at A-000021 (describing how the trial court's order dismissing the breach of contract claim "compromised and effectively dismissed [the promise of specific treatment] claim"). Accordingly, in an effort to overturn the decision on the substantive termination, Frisby also argues that the Court should review SU's HR Manual language affording an employee accused of sexual harassment with "a full opportunity to respond" to the allegations because it is an issue of substantial public importance. Petition at 15 (citing RAP 13.4)(b)(4)). This argument fails for at least two reasons. First, this issue is of no public importance because it impacts no one other than SU employees and indeed, only those employees who have a complaint of sexual harassment

made against them. Second, even if this Court determines otherwise, the Court's decision would have no impact on the outcome of the case given the appellate court's determination that SU had cause to terminate Frisby for insubordination—an independent basis for termination under the terms of the Agreement.

A private employer's HR Manual is not an issue of substantial public importance. Instead, review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is reserved for critical issues that have a statewide impact. For example, this Court noted that the "prime example of an issue of substantial public interest" was an appellate decision that had "the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (emphasis added). This Court has also reviewed cases involving such substantial public issues as sex offender registration, termination of parental rights and statutory child support obligations. *See Matter of Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017); *In re Adoption of T.A.W.*, 184 Wn.2d 1040, 387 P.3d 636 (2016); *In re Marriage of Ortiz*, 108 Wn.2d 643, 646, 740 P.2d 843 (1987). This Court's decisions in all of those cases necessarily have wide-reaching effects and are important to more than just the parties involved.

Here, Frisby suggests that the "substantial public importance" in this case is the meaning of specific language within SU's HR Manual, which states that a person accused of sexual harassment will receive a "full opportunity to respond." Petition at 15. Unlike the public employers referenced in Frisby's cited cases, however, SU is a private employer, and it can define its HR Manual's terms and conditions however it deems appropriate. These terms and conditions will have no impact on non-SU employees or other private employers.

Moreover, even if the Court were to review this issue, it would not change the outcome of the case. SU's HR Manual language affording an accused person a "full opportunity to respond" only applies to investigations into sexual harassment allegations—not investigations involving other types of misconduct, including insubordination. CP 121. The Court of Appeals held that "Katahira's findings supported SU's determination that Frisby committed insubordination under section 7(c) of the contract." CP 121; Opinion at 12. In other words, SU decision to terminate Frisby's employment was made in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, regardless of whether SU provided him with a "full opportunity to respond" to the sexual harassment allegations.

In sum, Frisby cannot show that the public is substantially interested in this Court creating a rule for how private employers must define their investigative procedures or the language in their handbooks. But even if he could, it would make no difference to the outcome in this case. For these reasons, review is inappropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

This is not a case that warrants discretionary review. For the reasons stated above, Frisby has failed his burden to show that RAP 13.4(1) or (4) apply to the issues he raises, and SU asks that the Court deny the Petition for Review.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 3rd day of September, 2020.

/s/ Michael Porter

Michael Porter, WSBA No. 37339 Katie Loberstein, WSBA No. 51091 MILLER NASH GRAHAM & DUNN LLP 3400 U.S. Bancorp Tower 111 S.W. Fifth Avenue Portland, Oregon 97204

Telephone: (503) 224-5858

E-mail: mike.porter@millernash.com katie.loberstein@millernash.com

Attorneys for Respondent-Cross Appellant

Seattle University